
 

Mi Familia Vota Education Fund, et al. v. Detzner, Docket No. 8:12-cv-01294 (M.D. Fla. Jun 08,
2012), Court Docket

 

Printed By: Joseph Chatham on Thursday, September 20, 2012 - 8:56 PM

 

Related Search Criteria

Search Term Mi Familia Vota Education Fund

Date No Date Selection

Type Search (Docket)

Sources U.S. District Court for the Middle District of Florida Dockets



Multiple Documents
Part Description
1 25 pages

2 Exhibit 1

3 Exhibit 2

4 Exhibit 3

5 Exhibit 4

© 2012 Bloomberg Finance L.P. All rights reserved. For terms of service see bloomberglaw.com // PAGE 1

Document Link: http://www.bloomberglaw.com/ms/document/X1Q6M8ACD382?documentName=20.xml

http://www.bloomberglaw.com/ms/document/2048057564530434?imagename=20-1.pdf
http://www.bloomberglaw.com/ms/document/2048057564530434?imagename=20-2.pdf
http://www.bloomberglaw.com/ms/document/2048057564530434?imagename=20-3.pdf
http://www.bloomberglaw.com/ms/document/2048057564530434?imagename=20-4.pdf
http://www.bloomberglaw.com/ms/document/2048057564530434?imagename=20-5.pdf
http://www.bloomberglaw.com/ms/www.bloomberglaw.com
http://www.bloomberglaw.com/ms/document/X1Q6M8ACD382?documentName=20.xml


WAI-3079624v1  

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

TAMPA DIVISION 
 

MI FAMILIA VOTA EDUCATION FUND, 

as an organization; MURAT LIMAGE; 

PAMELA GOMEZ, 

 

 Plaintiffs, 

 

v.       Civil Action No.: 08:12-cv-01294 

 

KEN DETZNER, in his official capacity as  

Florida Secretary of State, 

 

 Defendant. 

_____________________________________/ 

 

DEFENDANT SECRETARY OF STATE KEN DETZNER’S MOTION TO DISMISS 

 

Defendant Ken Detzner, Florida Secretary of State (“Secretary”), respectfully moves, 

pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), to dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint.  Plaintiffs’ 

Complaint “fail[s] to state a claim upon which relief can be granted,” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), 

because the State is not a covered jurisdiction under Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act, the 

Secretary voluntarily abandoned the activity that Plaintiffs challenge before Plaintiffs filed suit, 

Plaintiffs have failed to identify any change in voting practice or procedure subject to Section 5 

preclearance, and Plaintiffs seek to bootstrap a statewide injunction based on an alleged Section 

5 violation that exists, even under their own theory, in only five of Florida’s 67 counties. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

As the United States Department of Justice recently emphasized before the Supreme 

Court, “the federal and state governments have a compelling interest in excluding foreign 

citizens” from the political process.  Motion of the United States to Dismiss or Affirm at 11, 

Bluman v. FEC, 132 S. Ct. 1087 (2012) (No. 11-275), 2011 WL 5548718.  Such an exclusion is 

neither an “invidious attack” on these individuals nor “a deficiency in the democratic system”; 
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rather, it is “a necessary consequence of the community’s process of political self-definition.”  Id. 

at 15 (quoting Cabell v. Chave-Salido, 454 U.S. 432, 439 (1981)). 

Plaintiffs acknowledge that “[t]he State of Florida requires that, in order to vote in any 

election conducted in th[e] state, an individual must be a citizen of the United States of America.”  

Compl. ¶ 16.  Plaintiffs also acknowledge that Florida law validly requires the Secretary to 

“ensure the maintenance of accurate and current voter registration records” and the Supervisors 

of Elections in each county (“county supervisors”) to “conduct uniform, non-discriminatory 

registration list maintenance.”  Id. ¶ 17.  Moreover, though Plaintiffs fail to mention it, Florida 

law mandates a notice-and-hearing procedure before an individual may be removed from the 

voter registration list.  See § 98.075(7), Fla. Stat. 

All of these state laws have been precleared under Section 5.  See June 6, 2012 Letter to 

DOJ (Ex. 1) (referenced at Compl. ¶ 35); see also A Compilation Of The Election Laws Of The 

State Of Florida, available at http://election.dos.state.fl.us/publications/pdf/2011/2011Election 

Laws_04-12-2012.pdf (last visited July 5, 2012).  Plaintiffs therefore do not challenge any of 

these requirements or the Secretary’s compliance with them.  See Compl. ¶¶ 16–31.  And 

Plaintiffs do not allege that the Secretary sought to change any requirement of voter eligibility or 

the precleared notice-and-hearing removal procedure.  See id. 

Instead, the “change” purportedly requiring Section 5 preclearance that Plaintiffs allege is 

the Secretary’s recent—and now discontinued—use of a new source of information to confirm 

compliance with Florida’s valid voter eligibility requirements.  Id. ¶ 17.  In particular, Plaintiffs 

claim that the Secretary violated Section 5 when he matched the voter registration list against 

citizenship data from the Florida Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles’ 

(“DHSMV”) MAN Driver and Vehicle Express (“MDAVE”) database, and then transmitted that 
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data to county supervisors, who were to initiate the statutory notice-and-hearing removal 

procedure for potentially ineligible individuals.  See Compl. ¶¶ 22–31. 

This tortured Section 5 claim fails for at least four simple reasons.  First, as Plaintiffs 

concede, the State is not a “covered jurisdiction” under Section 5 (see Compl. ¶¶ 41, 55; 28 

C.F.R. Part 51 Appendix)—so Section 5 does not provide a cause of action against the State.  As 

Plaintiffs further concede, only five of Florida’s 67 counties are covered jurisdictions (see 

Compl. ¶¶ 41, 55), so Plaintiffs’ Section 5 claim runs, if at all, only against those counties.  Yet 

the Secretary, in his official capacity on behalf of the non-covered State, is the only defendant 

that Plaintiffs joined and against whom they seek relief.  See id. ¶ 15.   

Second, the Secretary discontinued the MDAVE data matching more than one month 

before Plaintiffs filed their Complaint.  See June 6, 2012 Letter to DOJ.  This eliminates any 

justiciable case or controversy, and demonstrates that neither the Secretary nor a county 

supervisor from any covered jurisdiction “seek[s] to administer” any Section 5 change in voting 

practice or procedure.  42 U.S.C. § 1973c(a). 

Third, even if the State were a covered jurisdiction and had not discontinued its MDAVE 

data matching, Plaintiffs fail to identify any change in voting practice or procedure requiring 

Section 5 preclearance.  Indeed, Plaintiffs’ theory makes no sense because it would freeze the 

Secretary into using antiquated, unreliable sources of information to implement the State’s valid 

voter eligibility requirements unless and until more current and reliable sources received 

preclearance.  Such a regime would impede, rather than advance, the efficient administration of 

precleared election laws.  

Plaintiffs allege that the Secretary’s data matching was discriminatory because it 

generated “false positives” of registered voters who were actually citizens.  See id. ¶ 32.  Yet the 
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reason that the Secretary sought MDAVE data (and now seeks even more accurate data) is that 

such data was more reliable and uniform than previously available data.  Plaintiffs thus seek to 

prohibit the Secretary from using increasingly more accurate data to assess citizenship. 

In any event, even if the State were a covered jurisdiction, the Secretary’s data matching 

is not a Section 5 “change” because it simply is one of many ongoing implementations of a 

Florida law that has already been precleared.  Florida law authorizes the Secretary to access 

information from state and federal officials “[i]n order to identify ineligible registered voters and 

maintain accurate and current voter registration records,” § 98.093, Fla. Stat., and directs him to 

share with the county supervisor any information indicating “that a registered voter is ineligible 

because he or she . . . is not a United States citizen,” id. § 98.075(6).  The Secretary regularly 

receives and transmits to county supervisors data relating to voter eligibility from a host of state 

and federal agencies, including DHSMV—and merely continued that practice with the MDAVE 

data matching. 

Plaintiffs, moreover, plainly do not believe that the Secretary’s data matching is a change 

in any covered county because they have not even joined any such county as a defendant.  See 

Compl. ¶ 15.  In fact, the only action by a covered county that Plaintiffs identify is Hillsborough 

County’s use of the matched data “as the basis for a mailing to demand that the recipients 

provide proof of their citizenship.”  Id. ¶ 31.  But, as Plaintiffs acknowledge with their citation to 

“Fla. Stat. § 98.075(7),” that action was required by Florida’s precleared notice-and-hearing 

removal procedure.  Id.  Thus, the Secretary’s reliance on a new source data has changed 

precisely nothing in the five covered counties, which continue to act on information received 

from the Secretary and to remove individuals that the county supervisors determine are ineligible 

in accordance with Florida’s precleared notice-and-hearing procedure. 
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Plaintiffs’ “change” argument also fails because it contravenes the federal Help America 

Vote Act (“HAVA”), which Plaintiffs do not so much as mention.  HAVA specifically directs 

the Secretary to “match information in the database of the statewide voter registration system 

with information in the database of the [State’s] motor vehicle authority” in order “to verify the 

accuracy” of voter registration information.  42 U.S.C. § 15483(a)(5)(B)(i).  The Secretary’s 

implementation of that federal requirement was not subject to preclearance as a matter of law, 

even if it had been undertaken by a covered jurisdiction. 

In a last-ditch effort to save their “change” argument, Plaintiffs attempt to leverage a 

letter from the United States Department of Justice espousing the view that the Secretary’s 

MDAVE data matching was a change subject to preclearance.  See Compl. ¶ 34.  Yet the Justice 

Department has filed its own suit challenging the Secretary’s data matching, but has not 

advanced any Section 5 claim.  The Justice Department’s decision to invest its resources in a suit 

without a Section 5 claim vividly underscores the incoherence of Plaintiffs’ allegation that data 

matching authorized by precleared state law and mandated by federal law is a “change” subject 

to Section 5 preclearance. 

In fact, the Northern District of Florida denied the Justice Department’s motion for a 

temporary restraining order in part because the Secretary has discontinued the MDAVE data 

matching.  See United States v. Florida, No. 4:12cv285, Order Denying A Temporary 

Restraining Order at 1 (N.D. Fla. June 28, 2012) (“DOJ Order”) (Ex.2).  The Secretary has 

repeatedly requested (and been wrongfully denied) access to the Department of Homeland 

Security’s Systematic Alien Verification for Entitlements Database (SAVE), and has filed suit to 

obtain immediate access to that data.  See Fla. Dep’t of State v. U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Security, 

No. 1:12-CV-00960 (D.D.C.).  But Plaintiffs’ theory that Section 5 requires preclearance of the 
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non-covered State’s use of a new source of information to enforce valid election laws would 

delay, and perhaps even prevent, use of the SAVE data, even though it is more accurate and 

reliable than the MDAVE data Plaintiffs malign.  See DOJ Order at 10.  The Court should reject 

Plaintiffs’ Section 5 claim and dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint in its entirety. 

Finally, in the alternative, and at a minimum, the Court should reject Plaintiffs’ attempt 

to transform the alleged Section 5 violation in Florida’s five covered counties into a statewide 

injunction prohibiting the Secretary from implementing data matching and “ordering [him] to 

employ his full authority to direct all county Supervisors of Elections to cease” using the 

matched MDAVE data.  Compl. ¶¶ B–C (emphasis added).  Such a claim for relief in non-

covered jurisdictions is beyond the Court’s Section 5 remedial authority and should be 

dismissed. 

BACKGROUND 

A. The Secretary’s Data Matching 

As Plaintiffs recognize (Compl. ¶ 16), Florida requires a voter in any election in the State 

to be “a citizen of the United States.”  § 97.041(1)(a)(2), Fla. Stat.  Florida law further directs the 

Secretary to “protect the integrity of the electoral process by ensuring the maintenance of 

accurate and current voter registration records,” id. § 98.075(1), and authorizes the Secretary to 

access information from state and federal officials “[i]n order to identify ineligible registered 

voters and maintain accurate and current voter registration records,” id. § 98.093.  It further 

provides that if the Secretary or a county supervisor “receives information . . . that a registered 

voter is ineligible because he or she . . . is not a United States citizen,” the supervisor must 

initiate the statutory notice-and-hearing procedure and—if the supervisor determines after that 

process that the registered voter is, in fact, ineligible—must remove the individual from the 

statewide voter registration list.  Id. §§ 98.075(6)–(7).  All of these state laws have been 
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precleared under Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act.  See June 6, 2012 Letter to DOJ; A 

Compilation Of The Election Laws Of The State Of Florida. 

Congress, through HAVA, has imposed similar duties on the Secretary.  HAVA requires 

the Secretary “to ensure that voter registration records in the State are accurate and are updated 

regularly” in order to “remove registrants who are ineligible to vote from the official list of 

eligible voters.”  42 U.S.C. § 15483(a)(4).  HAVA also places a specific non-discretionary duty 

on the Secretary to “match information in the database of the statewide voter registration system 

with information in the database of the [State’s] motor vehicle authority” in order “to verify the 

accuracy” of voter registration information.  Id. § 15483(a)(5)(B)(i). 

The Secretary and county supervisors regularly engage in data collection efforts to 

identify ineligible voters on the State’s voter registration list.  For example, the Secretary 

receives monthly reports of: deceased adults from the Florida Department of Health; persons 

adjudicated mentally incompetent from each clerk of the circuit court; and persons who have 

become licensed to drive in other states from DHSMV.  The Secretary also receives information 

from the United States Social Security Administration about registered voters who are deceased.  

And the Florida Department of Law Enforcement identifies persons on the voter rolls who have 

been convicted of a felony.  See generally §§ 98.075, 98.093, Fla. Stat. 

In 2011, as authorized by state law and mandated by HAVA, the Secretary worked with 

DHSMV to locate records in MDAVE pertaining to registered voters.  This data matching 

produced DHSMV records of registered voters containing information preliminarily indicating 

that the individuals may be non-citizens, such as a foreign passport, green card, or U.S. visa.  

The Secretary distributed a small sample consisting of roughly 2,600 such names to county 
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supervisors, who were to provide the identified individuals notice and an opportunity to be heard.  

See Compl. ¶¶ 22–29. 

 In distributing the sample of names, the Secretary reminded supervisors:   

The list that you will be receiving represents only non-immigrants initially 

identified in DHSMV’s DAVE . . . . Please remember that you are still 

responsible for contacting these individuals and going through the process of 

verifying citizenship status before making a determination of eligibility for voter 

registration. You must follow the same procedures, in law, that you have in the 

past whenever you receive information that a registered voter of yours is 

ineligible to be registered to vote. 

  

Apr. 2, 2012 E-mail To County Supervisors (Ex. 3). 

Most county supervisors complied with their legal duty to “[n]otify the registered voter of 

his or her potential ineligibility by mail within 7 days.”  § 98.075(7), Fla. Stat.  Over 400 voters 

who were notified have confirmed their eligibility to vote.  Since April 4, 2012, county 

supervisors of elections have removed over 100 registered voters from the voter rolls after 

determining that those persons were non-citizens.  Many of these individuals had a record of 

voting in prior elections.  The Secretary is not aware of, and Plaintiffs do not identify, any citizen 

appearing on the 2,600-person sample who has been wrongfully removed from the voter 

registration rolls, or any individual who was removed without a supervisor complying with the 

notice-and-hearing procedure and determining by a preponderance of the evidence that the 

individual was ineligible.  See Compl. ¶¶ 44, 47, 50. 

The Secretary determined that use of more recent citizenship information contained in 

SAVE would facilitate more efficient identification of non-citizens registered to vote.  Thus, on 

April 30, 2012, the Secretary decided not to forward any more MDAVE data to county 

supervisors.  See June 6, 2012 Letter to DOJ.  After DHS repeatedly and illegally denied the 

Secretary access to SAVE data, the Secretary filed suit seeking immediate access to that data on 
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June 11, 2012.  See Fla. Dep’t of State v. U.S. Dep’t of Homeland Security, No. 1:12-CV-00960 

(D.D.C.). 

B. Plaintiffs’ Complaint 

Plaintiffs filed their Complaint on June 8, 2012, more than one month after the Secretary 

discontinued the MDAVE data matching.  Plaintiffs allege to be residents of Hillsborough 

County and a non-profit organization.  See Compl. ¶¶ 43–53.  Plaintiffs recognize that the State 

is not a covered jurisdiction under Section 5 and that only five of Florida’s 67 counties—Collier, 

Hardee, Hendry, Hillsborough, and Monroe—are covered jurisdictions.  Id. ¶¶ 41, 55.  Plaintiffs 

nonetheless have sued and sought relief against only the Secretary, in his official capacity on 

behalf of the State, and have not sued any covered jurisdiction.  See id. ¶ 15. 

Plaintiffs acknowledge that “Florida requires that, in order to vote in any election 

conducted in that state, an individual must be a citizen of the United States of America.”  Id. 

¶ 16.  Plaintiffs do not challenge this citizenship requirement or allege that the Secretary’s data 

matching changed the qualifications for voter eligibility.  Plaintiffs, moreover, do not mention 

the notice-and-hearing procedure that Florida law requires to remove an ineligible individual 

from the voter registration list, and make no allegation that the Secretary or any other Florida 

official sought to change those requirements. 

The gravamen of Plaintiffs’ sole claim, therefore, is that the Secretary’s “institut[ion] [of] 

voter list maintenance procedures based upon motor vehicles data matching constitute[s] [a] 

change[] affecting voting that require[s] Section 5 preclearance.”  Id. ¶ 40.  Yet Plaintiffs 

recognize that Florida law requires supervisors to “conduct uniform, non-discriminatory 

registration list maintenance” and the Secretary to “ensure the maintenance of accurate and 

current voter registration records.”  Id. ¶ 17.  At the same time, Plaintiffs fail to make even a 
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single reference to HAVA or to precleared state law’s express authorization to the Secretary to 

obtain information from state or federal agencies in order to confirm voter eligibility.  See id. 

Plaintiffs contend that the MDAVE data matching is “void” and seek a statewide 

injunction prohibiting the Secretary from engaging in the discontinued MDAVE data matching 

and ordering him “to direct all county Supervisors of Elections to cease” using that data.  Id. 

¶¶ 56–59, B.  Plaintiffs point out that the Justice Department took the view, in a letter to the 

Secretary, that the MDAVE data matching was a change requiring preclearance under Section 5.  

Id. ¶ 34.  However, the Justice Department filed its own suit challenging the MDAVE data 

matching on June 11, 2012.  See Complaint, United States v. State of Florida, No. 4-12-CV-285 

(N.D. Fla.) (Ex. 4).  The Justice Department’s complaint alleged that the MDAVE data matching 

violated the National Voter Registration Act of 1993, but abandoned any allegation or claim that 

it was a change subject to Section 5 preclearance.  See id.  The Northern District of Florida has 

denied the Justice Department’s motion for a temporary restraining order in that case.  See DOJ 

Order. 

ARGUMENT 

I. SECTION 5 DOES NOT PROVIDE A CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST THE 

STATE 

Section 5 requires preclearance “only to the extent” that the change in voting practice or 

procedure “affects voting in jurisdictions properly designated for coverage.”  Lopez v. Monterey 

Cnty., 525 U.S. 266, 284–86 (1999) (“Lopez II”) (emphasis added); see also 42 U.S.C. § 

1973c(a); Holder v. Hall, 512 U.S. 874, 883(1994) (plurality op.) (“Section 5 applies only in 

certain jurisdictions specified by Congress.”); LaRouche v. Fowler, 77 F. Supp. 2d 80, 86 (D. 

D.C. 1999) (three-judge court), aff’d, 529 U.S. 1035 (2000).  In other words, Section 5 extends 

only to those “jurisdiction[s] covered by section 4(b) of the [Voting Rights] Act.”  28 C.F.R. § 
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51.1(a).  Section 5, therefore, obviously does not apply to a non-covered jurisdiction; such 

jurisdictions therefore are free to make changes in voting practice or procedure without first 

obtaining preclearance.  Lopez II, 525 U.S. at 284. 

Thus, Section 5 may be enforced—and provides a cause of action—only against a 

covered jurisdiction, not a non-covered jurisdiction.  See, e.g., Allen v. State Bd. of Elections, 393 

U.S. 544 (1969) (actions against officers of covered states of Mississippi and Virginia); Presley 

v. Etowah Cnty. Comm’n, 502 U.S. 491 (1992) (action against commission of covered political 

subdivision); Young v. Fordice, 520 U.S. 273 (1997) (action against officer of covered state of 

Mississippi); Lopez II, 525 U.S. 266 (action against covered political subdivision).  This rule 

applies even where a non-covered state, by state law, enacts changes to voting practices or 

procedures to be implemented by a covered political subdivision.  See, e.g., Lopez II, 525 U.S. at 

274–77.  In that scenario, Section 5 provides no claim against the non-covered state, which 

participates in the litigation, if at all, as an intervenor.  See, e.g., id. at 274 (noting non-covered 

state’s intervention in Section 5 suit against covered county). 

As Plaintiffs acknowledge, the State of Florida is not a Section 5 covered jurisdiction, 

and the Secretary of State is “the chief election officer of Florida.”  Compl. ¶ 15; see also id. ¶¶ 

41, 55; 28 C.F.R. Part 51 Appendix.  Section 5 therefore provides no cause of action against the 

State.  See, e.g., Lopez II, 525 U.S. 274–77.  In fact, as Plaintiffs also acknowledge, only five of 

Florida’s 67 counties are covered jurisdictions.  See id. ¶¶ 41, 55; see also 28 C.F.R. Part 51 

Appendix.  Thus, Plaintiffs’ Section 5 claim runs, if at all, only against those counties.  See, e.g., 

Lopez II, 525 U.S. 274–77; see also Allen, 393 U.S. 544; Presley, 502 U.S. 491; Young, 520 U.S. 

273.  Yet Plaintiffs assert their Section 5 claim only against the Secretary in his official capacity 
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on behalf of the State.  See Compl. ¶ 15.  Plaintiffs thus have failed to state a valid claim upon 

which this Court can grant relief, and their Complaint should be dismissed. 

Plaintiffs’ allegation that the Secretary “is required to provide written direction and 

opinions to the Supervisor of Elections on the performance of their official duties,” id., does not 

cure this pleading failure.  A state legislature also provides direction, in the form of binding state 

law, to county election officials—yet such state laws do not transform a non-covered state into a 

covered jurisdiction against which a Section 5 claim may be brought.  See, e.g., Lopez II, 525 

U.S. 274–77.   Moreover, a County “Supervisor of Elections is a constitutional officer who 

operates not entirely within the Secretary’s control.”  DOJ Order at 2.  Thus, Plaintiffs’ choice to 

sue only the Secretary and failure to join any covered jurisdiction is doubly fatal, and the Court 

should dismiss the Complaint.  

II. THE SECRETARY DISCONTINUED THE MDAVE DATA MATCHING MORE 

THAN ONE MONTH BEFORE PLAINTIFFS FILED SUIT 

 The Secretary’s “voluntar[y] abandon[ment]” of the MDAVE data matching more than 

one month before Plaintiffs filed suit (DOJ Order at 1; see also id. at 10–11; June 6, 2012 Letter 

to DOJ) defeats Plaintiffs’ Section 5 claim for at least two reasons.  First, this discontinuance of 

reliance on MDAVE data matching eliminates any “case or controversy” that can be adjudicated 

by a federal court.  City of Los Angeles v. Lyons, 461 U.S. 95, 101 (1983).  Indeed, this pre-suit 

voluntary abandonment eliminates any basis for Plaintiffs to plead, much less prove, standing to 

pursue their claim for prospective relief, because they are not “in danger of sustaining some 

direct injury as the result of the challenged conduct,” much less an injury that is “both real and 

immediate.”  Id. at 102 (citation and quotation marks omitted). 

 Moreover, even if Plaintiffs had standing to pursue a claim for a “conjectural or 

hypothetical” injury, id. (citation and quotation marks omitted), the discontinuance of MDAVE 
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data matching moots Plaintiffs’ claim in its entirety.  The Eleventh Circuit has consistently held, 

even with respect to post-litigation voluntary cessation, that a challenge to government action 

“that has been unambiguously terminated will be moot in the absence of some reasonable basis 

to believe that the [action] will be reinstated if the suit is terminated.”  Bankshot Billiards, Inc. v. 

City of Ocala, 634 F.3d 1340, 1352 (11th Cir. 2011).  There is no question that the Secretary has 

“unambiguously terminated” the MDAVE data matching, id., as his own public pronouncements 

make clear.  See, e.g., DOJ Order at 10–11; June 6, 2012 Letter to DOJ.  Moreover, there is no 

basis, reasonable or otherwise, to believe that the Secretary will reinstate the MDAVE data 

matching because the Secretary now seeks—and has filed suit to secure—the SAVE data 

withheld by the Department of Homeland Security.  Indeed, the Secretary’s voluntary 

abandonment of the MDAVE data matching with no reasonable basis to suspect reinstatement 

was one of the principal reasons that the Northern District of Florida denied the Justice 

Department’s motion for a temporary restraining order.  See DOJ Order at 10–11. 

 Second, Section 5 applies only where a covered jurisdiction “enact[s] or seek[s] to 

administer” a change in voting practice or procedure.  42 U.S.C. § 1973c(a); see also Lopez v. 

Monterey Cnty., 519 U.S. 9, 11 (1996) (“Lopez I”).  Yet the Secretary’s voluntary abandonment 

demonstrates that neither the Secretary nor, more importantly, any covered county currently 

seeks to administer the MDAVE data matching that Plaintiffs challenge.  Section 5 thus has no 

application here, and the Court should dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint for this reason alone.  

III. THE SECRETARY’S DATA MATCHING IS NOT A CHANGE REQUIRING 

SECTION 5 PRECLEARANCE 

Even if Plaintiffs had a Section 5 cause of action against the non-covered State 

concerning the no-longer-used MDAVE data, the Court still should dismiss the Complaint 

because the Secretary’s use of a new source of information to confirm voter eligibility, whether 
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MDAVE, SAVE, or some other source, is not a change subject to preclearance.  By its express 

terms, Section 5 requires preclearance only where a covered jurisdiction “enact[s] or seek[s] to 

administer any voting qualification or prerequisite to voting, or standard, practice, or procedure 

with respect to voting different from” one that already has been precleared.  42 U.S.C. § 1973c(a) 

(emphasis added).  Section 5 thus extends “only to proposed changes in voting procedures,” Beer 

v. United States, 425 U.S. 130, 138 (1976) (emphasis added), resulting in a “new voting 

practice,” Lopez I, 519 U.S. at 20 (emphasis added), that retrogresses the exercise of “the right to 

vote” of “any citizens of the United States,” 42 U.S.C. § 1973c(b) (emphasis added); see also 

Lopez I, 519 U.S. at 11 (“Section 5 governs changes in voting procedures, with the purpose of 

preventing jurisdictions covered by its requirements from enacting or seeking to administer 

voting changes that have a discriminatory purpose or effect.” (emphases added)).   

Here, the “voting qualification” is the obvious one of citizenship and the long-standing 

“standard, practice or procedure” is enforcing this qualification by excluding non-citizens from 

the voting rolls.  42 U.S.C. 1973c(a).  This basic practice—universally followed and mandated 

by federal law—is hardly new or a change from prior practice.  The fact that the counties are 

now provided with information on citizenship that is derived from a different source than their 

prior information does not remotely “change” either the citizenship “qualification” or the long-

standing “practice” of inquiring into a registered voter’s citizenship status when there is reason to 

do so. 

Thus, Plaintiffs’ theory that the Secretary or the counties need to seek Section 5 

preclearance whenever they rely on a new source of information to enforce the unquestionably 

valid voter eligibility requirements is flawed on multiple levels.  In the first place, even for the 

non-covered State, merely changing the information relied upon to confirm compliance with 
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valid voter eligibility requirements is not a change.  Moreover, the Secretary’s data matching is 

assuredly not a change in how Florida’s covered counties “administer” voting procedures, 

because, on Plaintiffs’ own allegations, the counties are simply continuing to enforce Florida’s 

valid voter eligibility requirements through the precleared notice-and-hearing procedure.  

Finally, Plaintiffs’ Section 5 theory is incompatible with the mandate of HAVA, which requires 

the Secretary to match voter registration data against motor vehicle data.  Because there has been 

no “change[] in voting procedure” anywhere, Beer, 425 U.S. at 138, Section 5 is inapplicable and 

Plaintiffs’ Complaint should be dismissed. 

A. The Secretary’s Data Matching Is Not A Change In Voting Practice Or 

Procedure 

 “In order to determine whether an election practice constitutes a ‘change’ as that term is 

defined in . . . § 5,” a court must “compare the practice with the covered jurisdiction’s 

‘baseline.’”  Riley v. Kennedy, 553 U.S. 406, 421 (2008).  The “baseline” is “the most recent 

practice that was both precleared and ‘in force or effect’—or, absent any change since the 

jurisdiction’s coverage date, the practice that was ‘in force or effect’ on that date.”  Id.  “The 

question is whether the [covered jurisdiction] has enacted or is seeking to administer a practice 

or procedure that is different enough from the baseline to qualify as a change.”  Id.  

The Supreme Court applied this change requirement in Presley v. Etowah County 

Commission, 502 U.S. 491 (1992).  There, a group of plaintiffs brought suit alleging that certain 

changes in county governance were subject to, but had not properly received, Section 5 

preclearance.  See id. at 493–95.  Specifically, the plaintiffs challenged a county resolution and a 

state law that altered the authority and duties of various county officials, contending that these 

changes related to voting and had a potentially retrogressive effect on minority voters.  See id. at 

495–499.   
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The Supreme Court rejected that contention.  See id. at 510.  The Supreme Court pointed 

out that its prior cases had identified “four factual contexts” triggering Section 5’s preclearance 

requirement: where changes in the covered jurisdiction (i) “involve[] the manner of voting,” (ii) 

“involve[] candidacy requirements and qualifications,” (iii) “concern[] . . . the composition of the 

electorate,” or (iv) “affect[] the creation or abolition of an elective office.”  Id. at 502–03.  The 

changes in county officials’ authority, the Supreme Court reasoned, did not fall within any of 

these categories because “[t]hey had no impact on the substantive question whether a particular 

office would be elective or the procedural question how an election would be conducted.”  Id. at 

510. 

The Southern District of Texas recently applied Presley to reject a Section 5 challenge 

substantially similar to the one Plaintiffs advance.  See Lopez v. City of Houston, No. H-09-0420, 

2009 WL 1456487 (S.D. Tex. 2009), aff’d 617 F.3d 336 (5th Cir. 2010).  The City of Houston 

Charter provided for a fourteen-member City Council, and required addition of two seats “if a 

determination [was] made pursuant to the Charter that the population of Houston is greater than 

or equal to 2.1 million people.”  Id. at *1.  The plaintiffs in Lopez brought suit alleging that, even 

though the City Controller had determined, pursuant to the Charter, that the City’s population 

exceeded 2.1 million people, the City Council had relied on nine year-old Census data to 

conclude that the City’s population remained below that threshold and, thus, that no new seats 

should be created.  See id.  The plaintiffs claimed that the City Council’s reliance on old Census 

data, rather than more recent population estimates, was a “change” in voting procedure requiring 

Section 5 preclearance.  See id. 

The Southern District of Texas rejected that claim for two reasons.  First, the court held 

that the plaintiffs had failed to establish a “change” in procedure at all.  See id. at *7–*8.  The 
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plaintiffs pointed to various provisions of the City Charter related to the population 

determination—but they failed to identify the City “baseline” procedure for calculating 

population growth.  See id. at *8.  Because “[t]he plaintiffs have failed to allege that the City . . . 

has ever actually implemented or followed the standard that they assert is the baseline,” they 

could not prove that the City’s population determination was a “change” requiring preclearance.  

Id. 

Second, the court held that, even if the City’s approach constituted a “change,” the 

plaintiffs still failed to state a claim because “merely changing the information relied upon or 

changing the procedure for determining whether a change in the size of the City Council is 

required is not the type of change that is subject to § 5’s preclearance requirements.”  Id. at *9 

(emphasis added).  The court reasoned that such a change did not “fit within any of the four 

categories of covered changes listed in Presley” because it did “not even arguably relate to the 

manner of voting or candidacy requirements.”  Id.  And even though “[e]xpanding the number of 

council positions would clearly fit within the fourth [Presley] category” and “redistricting” the 

council districts “would fit within the third category,” changing the information relied on “to 

determine when the expansion of the Council and concomitant redistricting must be implemented 

does not have the requisite ‘direct relation to voting and the election process’ to be subject to 

Section 5 preclearance.”  Id. (quoting Presley, 502 U.S. at 503). 

1. The Secretary’s Data Matching Is Not A Change For The Non-

Covered State 

Even if the State were a covered jurisdiction, the Secretary’s data matching does not 

qualify as a “change” subject to Section 5 preclearance because it does not depart from the 

State’s precleared benchmark and, in any event, has no “direct relation to voting and the election 

process.”  Presley, 502 U.S. at 503.  First, the Secretary’s data matching “[m]erely chang[es] the 
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information relied upon” to comply with the governing state statutes, Lopez, 2009 WL 1456487 

at *9, which require determination of who on the voter registration list might be an ineligible 

non-citizen and, thus, subject to removal after notice and a hearing, see § 97.041(1)(a)(2), Fla. 

Stat.; id. § 98.075(7). 

As Plaintiffs recognize, Florida law limits the right to vote to citizens and requires the 

Secretary and supervisors to “conduct uniform, non-discriminatory registration list maintenance” 

and to “ensure maintenance of accurate and current voter registration records.”  Compl. ¶¶ 16–17.  

Moreover, section 98.075 requires the Secretary to “protect the integrity of the electoral process 

by ensuring the maintenance of accurate and current voter registration records.”  § 98.075(1), 

Fla. Stat.  It further provides that if the Secretary or a county supervisor “receives information 

. . . that a registered voter is ineligible because he or she . . . is not a United States citizen,” the 

supervisor is to remove the voter from the statewide voter rolls in compliance with the statutory 

notice and hearing procedure.  §§ 98.075(6), (7) Fla. Stat.  And Section 98.093 authorizes the 

Secretary to access information from state and federal officials “[i]n order to identify ineligible 

registered voters and maintain accurate and current voter registration records.”  § 98.093, Fla. 

Stat.  All of these provisions have been precleared under Section 5.  See June 6, 2012 Letter to 

DOJ; A Compilation Of The Election Laws Of The State Of Florida.  

The Secretary long has implemented this statutory authority to obtain information bearing 

on voter eligibility from state and federal agencies and to transmit that information to county 

supervisors.  The relevant precleared statutes specifically reference non-citizenship, along with 

out-of-state residence, mental incapacity, and felony convictions, as bases for removing 

ineligible individuals from the voter registration list.  See generally § 98.075, Fla. Stat.  

Moreover, the relevant precleared statute specifically authorizes the Secretary and supervisors of 

Case 8:12-cv-01294-JDW-MAP   Document 16    Filed 07/13/12   Page 18 of 25 PageID 74



19 
WAI-3079624v1  

elections to receive information regarding voter ineligibility from new sources and to act on that 

information by following the statutory notice-and-hearing procedure. See id. § 98.075(6) 

(referring generally to “information from sources other than those identified in subsections (2) – 

(5)”). MDAVE and SAVE data matching are nothing more than the use of newly available 

sources of information to carry out the Secretary’s statutory duty to verify voter eligibility and to 

maintain the voter registration list.  See id.; see also id. § 98.093.  Such a legally authorized 

effort is not a “change” to procedure at all, much less a change requiring preclearance.  Beer, 

425 U.S. at 138.   

Indeed, under Plaintiffs’ theory, any time the Secretary obtained information bearing on 

voter eligibility from a new source—whether a new government database, a newspaper article or 

internet report, or a tip from a private citizen—he would be required to obtain preclearance 

before providing that information to a county supervisor.  This, of course, is not the law, see 

Lopez, 2009 WL 1456487 at *9, and directly contravenes the Secretary’s precleared 

authorization to act on any “information . . . that a registered voter is ineligible because he or she 

. . . is not a United States citizen.”  § 98.075(6), Fla. Stat. 

And this theory makes no sense because it would hamstring local authorities into using 

antiquated, unreliable sources of information to implement precleared voting practices and 

procedures unless and until it received preclearance to use new, more reliable sources of 

information.  Such a freezing of local authorities would impede, rather than advance, the 

efficient discharge of precleared election laws.  Indeed, creating such headwinds to excluding 

ineligible persons impedes Section 5’s substantive goals because it diminishes the voting power 

of “citizens”—minority and nonminority—that is protected by Section 5.  42 U.S.C. § 1973c(b). 
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As this reflects, the reason the Secretary has sought MDAVE and SAVE data is that each 

was more accurate than the previously available data, and thus would reduce the number of 

“false positives” and the potential for ad hoc, subjective enforcement of the citizenship 

qualification.  See Compl. ¶ 32.  On Plaintiffs’ construction, however, Section 5 would prevent 

the State from using more reliable data to assess citizenship.  See id. 

Second, the Secretary’s data matching does not fit within any of the four Presley 

categories and, thus, does not have the “direct relation to voting and the election process” 

required to trigger Section 5.
1
  Presley, 502 U.S. at 503.  On its face, the Secretary’s data 

matching did not “involve[] the manner of voting” or “candidacy requirements and 

qualifications,” and did not “affect[] the creation or abolition of an elective office.”  Id. at 502–

03.  And while changing the qualifications for voter eligibility affects “the composition of the 

electorate,” id. at 503, “[m]erely changing the information relied upon” to determine compliance 

with existing qualifications does not, Lopez, 2009 WL 1456487 at *9 (emphasis added).  

Plaintiffs concede as much because they do not allege that every administrative determination of 

ineligibility under Section 98.075(7) is itself subject to preclearance.  Thus, the Secretary’s data 

matching “had no impact on the . . . procedural question how an election would be conducted,” 

Presley, 502 at 510, and did “not even arguably relate to the manner of voting or candidacy 

requirements,” Lopez, 2009 WL 1456487 at *9.  The Court should dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint. 

 

                                                 
1
 While the Supreme Court in Allen gave “a broad interpretation to the right to vote,” the 

Secretary’s data matching does not trigger Section 5 even under that construction because it does 

not “alter[] the election law of a covered jurisdiction,” relate to “the qualification of candidates 

or to state decisions as to which offices shall be elective,” 393 U.S. at 564–66, or, as discussed 

infra, fit within any of the four Presley categories. 
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2. The Secretary’s Data Matching Is Not A Change In Any Covered 

County 

Regardless of whether the Secretary’s data matching is a change on the non-covered state 

level, it is not a change to the “baseline” practice in any covered county.  Riley, 553 U.S. at 421.  

For starters, Plaintiffs apparently agree that no covered county has implemented a change 

because they have not joined any such jurisdiction as a defendant in this case.  See Compl. ¶ 15.  

Moreover, Plaintiffs do not allege that any covered county has changed the qualifications for 

voter eligibility or the notice-and-hearing procedure for removing an ineligible individual from 

the voter registration list.  See Compl. ¶ 31. 

Instead, the only action by a covered jurisdiction that Plaintiffs identify is Hillsborough 

County’s use of the Secretary’s data matching “as the basis for a mailing to demand that the 

recipients provide proof of their citizenship.”  Id.  But as Plaintiffs themselves recognize, that 

mailing comported with the baseline procedure in precleared “Fla. Stat. § 98.075(7),” which 

details the notice-and-hearing requirement for removing an ineligible person.  Id.  Indeed, 

nothing has changed for the county supervisors in the covered jurisdictions, which, even on 

Plaintiffs’ theory, simply have implemented their baseline duty to initiate proceedings to remove 

“a registered voter” whenever they  “receive[] information . . . that [he or she] is ineligible 

because he or she . . . is not a United States citizen.”  § 98.075(6), Fla. Stat.; Compl. ¶ 31; see 

also Riley, 553 U.S. at 421; Lopez, 2009 WL 1456487 at *8.  Because no covered county has 

effected any “change[] in voting procedures,” Beer, 425 U.S. at 138 (emphasis added), the Court 

should dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint. 

B. HAVA Imposes A Non-Discretionary Duty On The Secretary To Match 

MDAVE Data 

Plaintiffs’ theory that the Secretary’s data matching is a Section 5 change also 

contravenes HAVA’s imposition of a non-discretionary duty to conduct such matching.  It is 
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axiomatic that a covered jurisdiction need not obtain preclearance of its compliance with federal 

“mandates.”  Young, 520 U.S. at 286.  This rule makes perfect sense: Congress is plainly aware 

of Section 5 and “retains the authority to curtail the Act’s protections with subsequent 

legislation; alternatively, Congress may be assumed to have accounted for the policies 

underlying the Act in rendering the new law.”  Lopez II, 525 U.S. at 285. 

Here, HAVA requires the Secretary to match MDAVE data as part of his duty to verify 

voter eligibility.  HAVA generally requires the Secretary “to ensure that voter registration 

records in the State are accurate and are updated regularly” in order to “remove registrants who 

are ineligible to vote from the official list of eligible voters.”  42 U.S.C. § 15483(a)(4).  HAVA 

also directs the Secretary to “match information in the database of the statewide voter 

registration system with information in the database of the [State’s] motor vehicle authority” in 

order “to verify the accuracy” of voter registration information.  Id. § 15483(a)(5)(B)(i).  The 

Secretary’s data matching was precisely the kind of voter information verification that Congress 

envisioned in enacting HAVA—so it cannot possibly be void merely because the Secretary, on 

behalf of the non-covered State, did not obtain Section 5 preclearance.  See, e.g., Lopez II, 525 

U.S. at 285; Young, 520 U.S. at 276.  For this reason as well, Plaintiffs’ Complaint should be 

dismissed. 

IV. PLAINTIFFS’ REQUEST FOR STATEWIDE RELIEF SHOULD BE DISMISSED 

Finally, in the alternative, and at a minimum, the Court should reject Plaintiffs’ attempt to 

expand an alleged Section 5 violation in five Florida counties into a statewide injunction 

prohibiting the Secretary from implementing data matching and “ordering [him] to employ his 

full authority to direct all county Supervisors of Elections to cease” using the matched MDAVE 

data.  Compl. ¶¶ B–C (emphasis added).  Because Section 5 provides a cause of action against 

only covered jurisdictions, see supra Part I, it authorizes relief only against those jurisdictions.  
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Lopez II, 525 U.S. at 284–86.  Section 5, therefore, does not authorize relief “to the extent” that 

an alleged change in voting practice or procedure affects a non-covered jurisdiction.  Id. at 284.  

Indeed, a judicial extension of Section 5 to non-covered jurisdictions—jurisdictions for which 

Congress has developed no record and made no findings that would justify the extraordinary 

prophylactic remedy of preclearance—would likely be unconstitutional.  Nw. Austin Mun. Utility 

Water Dist. v. Holder, 129 S.Ct. 2504, 2511-12 (2009).  Thus, even if Plaintiffs could establish 

that the Secretary’s data matching pursuant to precleared state law and a federal mandate were a 

“change” requiring preclearance—which they cannot—they would not be entitled to any relief in 

the 62 non-covered counties.  At a minimum, the Court should dismiss all such requests for 

relief.
2
 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, the Court should dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint. 

 

  

                                                 
2
 Moreover, because Plaintiffs allege to be residents of Hillsborough County (see Compl. 

¶¶ 44, 48, 52), they suffer no harm from the Secretary’s data matching in any other county and, 

thus, lack standing to challenge it.  See, e.g., Sullivan v. Scott, No. 11-10047, 2011 WL 4954261 

(S.D. Fla. Oct. 18, 2011) (dismissing statewide Section 5 claim); see generally Lujan v. 

Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555 (1992); Lyons, 461 U.S. at 101–02. 
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Dated: July 13, 2012    Respectfully submitted, 

      /s/ Daniel E. Nordby      

Michael A. Carvin (D.C. Bar No. 366784) Daniel E. Nordby (Fla. Bar No. 14588)  

John M. Gore (D.C. Bar No. 502057) General Counsel     

JONES DAY      Ashley E. Davis (Fla. Bar No. 48032)  

51 Louisiana Ave., N.W.   Assistant General Counsel    

Washington, D.C. 20001   Florida Department Of State    

Telephone: (202) 879-3939   R.A. Gray Building     

Facsimile: (202) 626-1700   500 South Bronough Street, Suite 100  

macarvin@jonesday.com    Tallahassee, FL 32399-0250    

jmgore@jonesday.com    Telephone: (850) 245-6536    

      Facsimile: (850) 245-6127    

      Daniel.Nordby@DOS.MyFlorida.com 

      Ashley.Davis@DOS.MyFlorida.com 

 

      Counsel for Defendant  

      Secretary of State Ken Detzner 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that on this 13th day of July, 2012, a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing will be sent electronically to the registered participants through the Court’s CM/ECF 

system. 

 

      /s/ Daniel E. Nordby      
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fLORIDA DEPARTMENT ofSTAT~ 

RICK SCOTT 

Governor 
KENDETZNER 
Secretary of State 

June 6, 2012 

T. Christian Herren 
United States Department ofJustice 
Civil Rights Division 
Voting Section - NWB 
950 Pennsylvania Ave, NW 
Washington, D.C. 20530 

Re: Florida's Continuing Commitment to Protecting Citizen Voting Rights 

Dear Mr. Herren: 

I write in response to your letter of May 31, 2012, which questions the Florida 
Department of State's ongoing efforts to protect the integrity of elections and to maintain current 
and accurate voter registration rolls. Your letter suggests that the Department of Justice (DOJ) 
opposes these efforts, and reads federal law to prohibit Florida from verifying the eligibility of 
registered voters and removing non-citizens from its voter rolls. The Department of State 
respectfully disagrees with DOJ's position. The actions taken by Florida to identify and remove 
non-citizens from its voter rolls ensure that the right to vote of citizens is protected and is not 
diluted by the votes ofineligible persons. 

For nine months, Florida has sought access to the best available information to ensure the 
accuracy of our voter registration rolls: the Systematic Alien Verification for Entitlements 
(SAVE) database maintained by the Department of Homeland Security (DHS). Because DHS 
has repeatedly blocked Florida's access, we have been unable to send additional information to 
supervisors of elections since April 30, 2012. We continue to wait for access to the most current 
information available, and we respectfully reiterate our request for immediate access to the 
SAVE database. 

At the outset, it is important to note that the process initiated by the Florida Department 
of State has identified registered voters who, by their own admission, are not United States 
citizens. These ineligible persons have been appropriately removed from the voter rolls. 
Pursuant to Florida law, no person has been or will be removed from the voter rolls without 
the fundamentals of due process: notice, an opportunity to be heard, and a determination by the 
county supervisor of elections that a preponderance of the evidence shows the voter is ineligible . 

R. A. Gray Building • 500 South Bronough Street • Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250 

Telephone: (850) 245-6500 • Facsimile: (850) 245-6125 www.dos.state.t1.us
~ . ~ 

Commemorating 500 years ofFlorida history www.t1a500.com 
VIVA FlORIDA500. VIVA flORIDA 500. 
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Under section 98.075, Florida Statutes, a law which has been duly precleared by the 
Department of Justice, a supervisor of elections must take the following actions before any 
person's name may be removed from the statewide voter registration system: 

• 	 Notify the registered voter of his or her potential ineligibility by certified mail, return 
receipt requested, including any documentation upon which the potential ineligibility 
is based; 

• 	 Allow the registered voter 30 days to respond by admitting or denying the ac=acy of 
the information underlying the potential ineligibility; 

• 	 Provide the registered voter a hearing, if requested, for the purpose of determining 
eligibility; 

• 	 If the mailed notice is returned as undeliverable, puhlish notice in a newspaper of 
general circulation in the county where the voter was last registered, with an 
additional 30-day opportunity for the registered voter to resolve the matter; 

• 	 At the conclusion of the notice and hearing process, make a final determination of the 
voter's eligibility based on a preponderance of the evidence before the supervisor of 
elections; 

• 	 Allow for an additional appeal of any determination of ineligibility before a state 
circuit court. 

Other duly-precleared Florida laws provide additional safeguards to protect the rights of 
lawfully registered voters. See § 98.081(2), Fla. Stat. (providing for restoration of any voter 
erroneously removed from the statewide voter registration system); § 101.048, Fla. Stat. 
(allowing any voter whose eligibility cannot be determined to vote a provisional baUot). 

As explained below, Florida's implementation of these state statutes is fully consistent 
with federal law. 

The Voting Rights Act 

Florida's actions are consistent with the Voting Rights Act. The State of Florida is not a 
covered jurisdiction subject to the preclearance requirements of Section 5 of the Voting Rights 
Act. As for the role of the supervisors of elections in Florida's five covered counties, they are 
simply administering a law that the Department of Justice has duly precleared. See § 98.075, Fla. 
Stat. 

The National Voter Registration Act 

Florida's actions are also consistent with the National Voter Registration Act. oars 
reading of the NVRA would grant greater protection against removal from the voter rolls to non
citizens-who were never eligible to vote--than to other categories of registered voters (such as 
deceased persons, convicted felons, and the mentally incompetent) who may have lawfully been 
on the rolls at one time but have later become ineligible. Such a result is plainly contrary to the 
NVRA's express purpose of "ensur[ing] that accurate and current voter registration rolls are 
maintained." 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg(h)(4). 
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If the effect of the NVRA is to force a state to allow never-eligible non-citizens the 
opportunity to vote, then the statute might violate the Equal Protection Clause of the 
Constitution, which guarantees that the right to vote cannot be denied by a dilution of the weight 
of a citizen's vote. If DO] applies the NVRA in this manner, then presumably eligible voters in 
Florida have the right to bring a lawsuit in federal court to test whether their votes are being 
unconstitutionally denied by the federal government. 

Your letter suggests that Florida's efforts to identifY and remove non-citizens who have 
illegally registered to vote violate the NVRA because we are now within ninety days of a federal 
election. Even if the ninety-day provision were read to provide for this result-that is, 
prohibiting a state from removing non-citizens from the voter rolls three months prior to a 
federal election-nothing in the NVRA would prohibit Florida from simply gathering 
information about persons who have illegally registered. That information, even if not used to 
remove improperly-registered persons now, could be used after a federal election to remove 
those persons from the rolls or to prosecute them if they illegally voted. 

Finally, even assuming the ~'VRA' s ninety-day provision applies to the type of 
individualized assessment at issue here, Florida has entered that period only because DHS has 
repeatedly ignored or rebuffed Florida's efforts to gain access to the SAVE database-access 
that was necessary for successful and accurate completion of Florida' s efforts to ensure the 
integrity of its voter registration rolls. For your reference, I have attached to this letter a chain of 
emails dating back nine months, which demonstrates DHS's refusals and delays in this regard. 

By denying Florida access to the SAVE database, DHS appears to have violated federal 
law, which provides that states may use the SAVE database "for any legal purpose such as ... 
voter registration," and that DHS "shall respond to an inquiry by a .. . State . .. government 
agency ... seeking to verifY or ascertain the citizenship or immigration status of any individual 
within the jurisdiction of the agency for any purpose authorized by law, by providing the 
requested verification or status information." 76 Fed. Reg. 58525, 58527 (Sept. 21, 2011); 7 
U.S.C. § 1373(d). 

In sum, the practice DOJ now appears to be endorsing is as follows: the federal 
Department of Homeland Security may, for months, violate federal law and deny Florida 
and other states access to the SAVE database so that the federal Department of Justice may 
then assert that the resulting delays in a state's election-integrity efforts violate the time 
periods established in another federal law. This hardly seems like an approach earnestly 
designed to protect the integrity of elections and to ensure that eligible voters have their 
votes counted. 

Conclusion 

It is an unfortunate but now undeniable fact that Florida' s voter rolls include individuals 
who are not citizens of the United States. The Florida Department of State has a solemn 
obligation to ensure the integrity of elections in this State. Permitting ineligible, non-citizen 
voters to cast ballots undermines that mission and erodes the justified faith the electorate has in 
the fairness and reliability of the electoral process. To enable the Department of State to meet its 
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responsibility to enforce both federal and state law, and to determine what further action may be 
necessary, please provide us with answers to the following questions by June 11 : 

(I) Does the DO] agree that the Department of Homeland Security has a legal obligation 
to provide Florida access to the SAVE database? 

(2) Is it the DO]'s position that the NVRA prohibits any actions by Florida to identify 
and remove non-citizens from its voter registration rolls between today' s date and the 
date of the November 6 General Election? 

(3) If not, what steps does the DO] believe Florida may take to identify and remove non
citizens from its voter registration rolls between today's date and the date of the 
November 6 General Election? 

(4) If the DOl's position is that the NVRA prohibits Florida from removing non-citizens 
from its voter registration rolls between today's date and the date of the November 6 
General Election, is it the DOl's position that the NVRA prohibits Florida from 
taking action to even identify non-citizens on its voter registration rolls for later 
removal and, if warranted by the facts and law, prosecution by appropriate law 
enforcement authorities? 

Sincerely, 

Ken Detzner 
Secretary of State 

cc: 	 Attorney General Pam Bondi 
Elise Sandra Shore, Esq. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

TALLAHASSEE DIVISION 

 

 

 

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

 

  Plaintiff, 

 

v.       CASE NO.  4:12cv285-RH/CAS 

 

STATE OF FLORIDA and KEN DETZNER, 

Secretary of State, in his official capacity, 

 

  Defendants. 

 

_____________________________________/ 

 

 

ORDER DENYING A TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER 

 

 This case arises from a program that the Florida Secretary of State began and 

then voluntarily abandoned to identify and remove noncitizens from the Florida 

voter-registration rolls.  The United States has sued the Secretary and the State of 

Florida, asserting violations of the National Voter Registration Act.  The United 

States has moved for a temporary restraining order.  In substance, the motion may 

seek a preliminary injunction, but the nomenclature makes no difference.  This 

order confirms the ruling announced at greater length on the record at the 

conclusion of a hearing on the motion.  The order denies the motion primarily 

because the Secretary has abandoned the program. 
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I 

 The Secretary is Florida’s chief elections officer, but each county has its 

own Supervisor of Elections.  A Supervisor of Elections is a constitutional officer 

who operates not entirely within the Secretary’s control.   

 The Secretary compiled a list of roughly 180,000 registered voters who he 

said might be noncitizens.  The Secretary sent a sample of names drawn from the 

list to the Supervisors with a detailed set of instructions—or at least suggestions—

on how to use the list.  The instructions included sending a letter to each person on 

the list directing the person to send back a form swearing, under penalty of perjury, 

that the person was or was not a citizen, and, if a citizen, either requesting a 

hearing or attaching documents showing citizenship.  The proposed letter included 

a statement that if the person failed to respond within 30 days, the person might be 

removed from the voter roll. 

 There were major flaws in the program.  The Secretary compiled the list in a 

manner certain to include a large number of citizens.  At least insofar as shown by 

this record, the list included any person who (1) as a noncitizen, obtained a driver’s 

license and accurately disclosed to the Department of Highway Safety and Motor 

Vehicles that the person was not a citizen, (2) became a naturalized citizen, (3) 

registered to vote, accurately disclosing to the Supervisor of Elections that the 
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person was a citizen, and (4) had not yet renewed the driver’s license and so had 

not updated DHSMV’s records to reflect the new citizenship status.   

 Florida driver’s licenses are renewed every six years.  One thus would 

expect the average lag between naturalization and driver’s-license renewal to be 

three years.  Tens of thousands of Florida residents become naturalized citizens 

each year.  Homeland Security records put the number at nearly 240,000 for the 

last three years.
1
  If just over three-fourths of those were already licensed drivers 

and, upon becoming citizens, registered to vote, one would expect the Secretary’s 

list to include 180,000 properly registered new citizens.  And the Secretary’s 

methodology had other possible flaws as well, including, for example, the 

possibility that the clerk issuing a driver’s license improperly listed a citizen as a 

noncitizen; the record does not indicate whether a driver has an opportunity to 

review or correct such an entry.  The suggestion that there was a list of 180,000 

improperly registered noncitizens was plainly wrong. 

                                           
1
 The numbers are 82,788 for 2009, and 67,484 for 2010, and 87,309 for 

2011, for a total of 237,581.  James Lee, Annual Flow Report:  U.S. 

Naturalizations: 2011, Dep’t of Homeland Security 3 (April 2012),  

http://www.dhs.gov/files/statistics/publications/us-naturalizations-2011.shtm.  This 

appears to be information that can be judicially noticed.  Taking notice would be 

proper only if the parties have an opportunity to be heard.  See Fed. R. Evid. 201.  

But it makes no difference whether this information is judicially noticed or even 

considered at all.  It is common knowledge than many thousands of Floridians are 

naturalized each year.  At argument, the Secretary did not deny it, and nobody 

could reasonably do so.  The numbers are set out here just to illustrate the point. 
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 Still, the Supervisors who received the Secretary’s sample list identified a 

small number of noncitizens who were on the list and were registered to vote.  The 

record is less than conclusive but suggests that some actually voted in past 

elections. 

II 

 In order to obtain a temporary restraining order or preliminary injunction, a 

plaintiff must establish a substantial likelihood of success on the merits, that it will 

suffer irreparable injury unless the injunction issues, that the threatened injury 

outweighs whatever damage the proposed injunction may cause a defendant, and 

that the injunction will not be adverse to the public interest.  See, e.g., Siegel v. 

LePore, 234 F.3d 1163, 1176 (11th Cir. 2000) (en banc); Charles H. Wesley Educ. 

Found., Inc. v. Cox, 408 F.3d 1349, 1354 (11th Cir. 2005).   

III 

 In support of its motion, the United States asserts it is likely to prevail on the 

merits of two claims, both arising under the National Voter Registration Act.  First, 

the United States says the NVRA prohibits a state from pursuing a program to 

systematically remove noncitizens from the voting rolls within 90 days before a 

federal election.  And second, the United States says the Secretary’s program 

violates the NVRA’s requirement that any such program be uniform and 

nondiscriminatory. 
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A 

 The United States bases its 90-day argument on NVRA section 8(c)(2)(A):  

 

A State shall complete, not later than 90 days prior to the date of a 

primary or general election for Federal office, any program the 

purpose of which is to systematically remove the names of ineligible 

voters from the official lists of eligible voters. 

 

42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-6(c)(2)(A).  Section 8(c)(2)(B) sets out exceptions: 

Subparagraph (A) shall not be construed to preclude— 

 

(i) the removal of names from official lists of voters on a basis 

described in paragraph (3)(A) or (B) or (4)(A) of subsection (a) 

of this section; or  

 

(ii) correction of registration records pursuant to this 

subchapter.  

 

42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-6(c)(2)(B).  It is unclear why the exception in clause (ii) does 

not apply to the Secretary’s program, but neither side says it does.  The exceptions 

in clause (i) do not apply here; they deal with removal of an individual who 

requests removal, or has a felony conviction or mental incapacity, or has died.  

Thus paragraph (a)(3) deals with removal of names from the voter list: 

(A) at the request of the registrant;  

 

(B) as provided by State law, by reason of criminal conviction or 

mental incapacity; or 

 

(C) as provided under paragraph (4) . . . . 

 

42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-6(a)(3).  Paragraph (a)(4)(A) in turn deals with removal 

on one additional ground: 
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(A)  the death of the registrant . . . . 

  

42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-6(a)(4).  The Secretary says subparagraph (a)(3)(B) allows 

removal on any ground “provided by State law,” but that plainly is incorrect, first 

because that reading would render the rest of paragraph (a)(3)—and also 

section 8(c)(2)(A)—virtually superfluous, and second because in the vertical list 

with separate entries separately numbered and separated by semicolons, each 

separately numbered entry must be read as an integrated whole.  The reference to 

removal “as provided by State law, by reason of criminal conviction or mental 

incapacity” thus means removal based on a criminal conviction or mental 

incapacity—but only to the extent state law provides for removal on those grounds.  

The suggestion that two wholly unrelated grounds for removal—“as provided by 

state law” and “by reason of criminal conviction or mental incapacity”—were set 

out in subparagraph (B), separated by a comma instead of a semicolon, is wrong. 

 The United States says the Secretary’s program is a “program the purpose of 

which is to systematically remove the names of ineligible voters from the official 

lists of eligible voters,” that none of the listed exceptions applies to the removal of 

noncitizens, and that section 8(c)(2)(A) thus prohibits the Secretary from 

continuing his program into the 90-day quiet period.  The quiet period began on 

May16, 2012, which was 90 days before the scheduled August 14, 2012 primary.   
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 On first reading, section 8(c)(2)(A) seems to say precisely what the United 

States claims.  But a parallel NVRA provision indicates that this first reading is 

incorrect.  Section 8(a)(3) requires a state to provide that “the name of a registrant 

may not be removed from the official list of eligible voters” with the specific 

exceptions quoted in part above—exceptions for the registrant’s own request, 

criminal conviction or mental incapacity, death, or change of residence.  42 U.S.C. 

§ 1973gg-6(a)(3).  On first reading, this section—which applies at all times, not 

just in the 90 days before an election—seems to prohibit a state from ever 

removing from its voting list a noncitizen, even though the noncitizen should never 

have been registered in the first place.   

 But this is not what this section means.  Both sides agree that a state can 

remove an improperly registered noncitizen; the United States challenges only a 

state’s ability to do so as part of a systematic program during the 90-day quiet 

period.  This conclusion is inescapable: section 8(a)(3)’s prohibition on removing a 

registrant except on specific grounds simply does not apply to an improperly 

registered noncitizen.   

 So section 8(a)(3)’s list of the grounds on which a “registrant” may be 

“removed” does not apply to removing an improperly registered noncitizen.  

Section 8(c)(2) provides a quiet period—90 days—during which a state cannot 

pursue a program to systematically “remove . . . ineligible voters.”  Surely 
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“removed” in 8(a)(3) and “remove” in 8(c)(2) mean the same thing.  And there is 

no reason to believe the reference to removing a “registrant” in 8(a)(3) means 

something different than removing “ineligible voters” in 8(c)(2); by definition, 

someone who is being “removed” has already registered, so an “ineligible voter” is 

a “registrant.”  In short, if, as both sides concede, section 8(a)(3) does not prohibit 

a state from removing an improperly registered noncitizen, then 8(c)(2) does not 

prohibit a state from systematically removing improperly registered noncitizens 

during the quiet period. 

 This indicates that what Congress had in mind when it drafted these sections 

was removing a person on grounds that typically arise after an initial proper 

registration.  Congress was not addressing the revocation of an improperly granted 

registration of a noncitizen.  A person who was once properly registered can be 

removed from the voting list under section 8(a)(3) only for specific reasons: the 

person asks to be taken off the list, becomes ineligible under state law because of a 

criminal conviction or mental incapacity, dies, or changes residence.  During the 

90-day quiet period, a state may pursue a program to systematically remove 

registrants on request or based on a criminal conviction, mental incapacity, or 

death, but not based on a change of residence.  What matters here is this: none of 

this applies to removing noncitizens who were not properly registered in the first 

place. 
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   For noncitizens, the state’s duty is to maintain an accurate voting list.  See, 

e.g., 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-6(b).  A state can and should do that on the front end, 

blocking a noncitizen from registering in the first place.  And if a state finds it has 

made an error—or a number of errors—and wishes to correct the problem, it 

should do so well in advance.  But the NVRA does not require a state to allow a 

noncitizen to vote just because the state did not catch the error more than 90 days 

in advance. 

B 

 The United States bases its second challenge on NVRA section 8(b), which 

requires a state program that is intended “to protect the integrity of the electoral 

process”—by providing an “accurate” voter roll—to be “uniform” and 

“nondiscriminatory.”  42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-6(b).   

 The Secretary’s program, while he was pursuing it, probably ran afoul of 

this provision.  The record indicates that the Secretary’s program identified many 

properly registered citizens as potential noncitizens.  Given the methodology, that 

is hardly surprising.  The Secretary’s proposal was to send letters to the listed 

individuals requiring a response and ultimately to require them to provide 

documentation of their citizenship.  The Secretary’s methodology made it likely 

that the properly registered citizens who would be required to respond and provide 

documentation would be primarily newly naturalized citizens.  The program was 
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likely to have a discriminatory impact on these new citizens.  And while the 

Secretary suggests that having to respond to this kind of inquiry is of little import, 

that is not so.  A state cannot properly impose burdensome demands in a 

discriminatory manner. 

III 

 The Secretary says, though, that he has suspended the program and will not 

resume it.  He says he is seeking better information, specifically access to a 

database maintained by the United States Department of Homeland Security that, if 

used properly, should exclude from the Secretary’s list the newly naturalized 

citizens, and perhaps others included on the Secretary’s list in error.  A program 

that accurately identifies noncitizens who are registered to vote without 

unnecessarily challenging citizens could meet the requirement of uniformity and 

nondiscrimination.   And because, as set out above, such a program could be 

pursued even within 90 days of an election, there is no reason to believe, at this 

point, that the Secretary will engage in any future violation of the NVRA. 

 There is no need for an injunction prohibiting the Secretary from continuing 

with a program he has unequivocally said he will not continue.  Support for this 

conclusion comes from the four-part test governing preliminary injunctive relief, as 

set out above, including the requirement that any such injunction be necessary to 

avoid irreparable harm.  And support also comes from the voluntary-cessation 
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doctrine as applied to public defendants.  In this circuit a government entity that 

has discontinued challenged conduct enjoys a rebuttable presumption that the 

conduct will not recur.  See, e.g., Bankshot Billiards, Inc. v. City of Ocala, 634 

F.3d 1340, 1351-52 (11th Cir. 2011) (collecting earlier cases).  If the Secretary or 

the supervisors of elections go forward with the program the Secretary says he has 

abandoned, the issue can be revisited. 

IV 

 For these reasons, 

 IT IS ORDERED: 

 The motion for a temporary restraining order, ECF No. 7, is DENIED. 

  SO ORDERED on June 28, 2012. 

      s/Robert L. Hinkle     

      United States District Judge   
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IN TIIE UNITED STATES DISTRlCT COURT
FOR THE NORTIIERN DISTRlCT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE DIVISION

v.

Plaintiff,

Defendants.

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

STATE OF FLORlDA; KEN DETZNER,
Secretary of State, in his official capacity,

)
)
)
)
)

~ CIVIL ACTION NO.

)
)
)
)
)

---------------)
COMPLAINT

The United States of America alleges:

1. The Attorney General brings this action on behalf of the United States to enforce

Section 8 of the National Voter Registration Act of 1993 ("NVRA"), 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg~6.

2. The State of Florida is conducting a program "the purpose of which is to

systematically remove the names of ineligible voters from the official lists of eligible voters,"

within 90 days of an election for Federal office. 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-6(c)(2)(A). Section

8(c)(2)(A) of the NVRA expressly forbids such removal programs during the 90~day period

before an election for Federal office, with a few exceptions that do Dot apply here. The United

States brings this action to protect the rights ofeligible citizens to vote and to ensure that the

State complies with the voter protections enacted by Congress through the NVRA.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345,

& 2201, and 42 U.S.c. § 1973gg-9.
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4. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 89, 1391(b).

PARTIES

5. The NVRA authorizes the Attorney General of the United States to bring a civil

action on behalf of the Plaintiff United States of America in an appropriate district court for such

declaratory or inj\Dlctive relief as is necessary to carry out the NVRA. 42 U.S.C. § I973gg-9(a).

6. Defendant State of Florida is one of the States ofthe United States of America

and is subject to the requirements of the NVRA. 42 U.S.c. §§ 1973gg-1(4), 1973gg-2, 1973gg

6.

7. Defendant Secretary of State Ken Detzner is sued in his official capacity as the

chief state election official responsible for coordinating Florida's responsibilities under the

NVRA. See 42 U.S.c. § 1973gg-8; Fla. Stat. § 97.012(7). Defendant Detzner is the head of the

Florida Department of State. The Division of Elections is one of the divisions established within

the Department of State. See Fla. Stat. § 20.10(1) & (2)(a).

CAUSE OF AcnON

8. Section 8 of the NVRA establishes requirements for how States maintain voter

registration lists for elections for Federal office. 42 U.S.C. §§ 1973gg-6, 1973gg-1(1), 1(2).

9. . Among these requirements, Section 8(b)(1) of the NVRA provides that any State

program or activity designed to ensure the maintenance of accurate and current voter registration

rolls for elections for Federal office "shall be Wliform, nondiscriminatory, and in compliance

with the Voting Rights Act of 1965[.]" 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-6(b)(1).

10. Section 8(c)(2)(A) of the NVRA requires that "[a] State shall complete, not later

than 90 days prior to the date of a primary or general election for Federal office, any program the
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purpose of which is to systematically remove the names of ineligible voters from the official lists

of eligible voters." 42 U.S.C. § I973gg-6(c)(2)(A).

11. Section 8(c)(2)(B) of the NVRA includes limited exceptions to the 90-day period

established by Section 8(c)(2)(A). 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-6(c)(2)(B). Those exceptions authorize

voter removal programs within 90 days of a primary or general election for Federal office only in

the following circwnstances: (1) at the request of the registrant; (2) if the registrant is

disqualified by reason of criminal conviction or mental incapacity as provided by State law; or

(3) if the registrant has died. 42 U.S.C. §§ 1973gg-6(a)(3)(A), (a)(3)(B), (a)(4)(A), (c)(2)(B)(i).

States may not otherwise conduct a systematic removal program under Section 8 of the NVRA

within 90 days of an election for Federal office, including removing registrants within the 90-day

period for failing to respond to letters sent as a result of a systematic list maintenance program.

12. The next-scheduled Florida primary election, which includes elections for Federal

office, is set for August 14, 2012. See Florida Division of Elections, Calendar of Election Dates,

available at http://election.dos.state.fl.uslcalendar/elecdate.shtmJ.

13. The 90th day before the August 14,2012 primary election was May 16,2012.

]4. The next-scheduled Florida general election, which includes elections for Federal

office, is set for November 6, 2012. See Florida Division of Elections, Calendar of Election

Dates, available at http://election.dos.state.fl.uslcalendar/elecdate.shtml; 2 U.S.C. § 7.

15. The 90th day before the November 6,2012 general election will be August 8,

2012, which falls before Florida's primary election.

16. Defendant Detzner has been working in coordination with the Florida

Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles ("DHSMV") to identify registered voters for

possible removal from the statewide Florida Voter Registration System ("FVRS"). As part of
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this effort, Defendant Detzner has implemented ongoing procedures (1) to verify voter

registration records in FVRS against databases maintained by DHSMV for purposes of

identifying potentially ineligible voters based on lack of citizenship, and (2) to distribute the

results of this matching process to the 67 Florida County Supervisors of Elections for further

action, including possible removal of registered voters from the FVRS.

17. Upon information and belief, in early April 2012, the Florida Division of

Elections ("DOE") sent to the 67 Florida County Supervisors of Elections a list of voters

identified as potentially ineligible due to lack of citizenship. On April 23, 2012, the DOE sent to

the Supervisors of Elections a PowerPoint document entitled "Processing Ineligible Registered

Voter-Non-Immigrants." See Attachment 1. This document sets forth step-by-step instructions

for the Supervisors of Elections to follow when verifying the eligibility of voters identified as a

result of the matching process described in Paragraph 16. These instructions incorporate

provisions of Fla. Stat. §§ 98.075(6) and (7), and also direct the Supervisors of Elections to

"Conduct any additional research [Refer to whatever other sources you have to confirm identity

and potential change in legal status. You should all have access to DHSMV's DAVE. If you

find information credible and reliable, proceed.]" Id at 8 (brackets in original). "DAVE" (the

Driver and Vehicle Express system) is a DHSMV database that contains driver's license

information. The PowerPoint document also specifically instructs the Supervisors ofElections

to "[d]etermine eligibility of person based on information you have ... if ineligible, remove

voter name from rolls." ld. at 18.

18. Based on information and belief, on May 16, 2012, officials from the Florida

Department of State, including from the DOE and the Department's Office of General Counse~

presented a training session in the form of a PowerPoint presentation entitled "List Maintenance
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Categories and Procedures" to the Florida County Supervisors of Elections during the Florida

State Association of Supervisors of Elections ("FSASE") annual conference. See Attaclunent 2.

The PowerPoint training includes a '"workflow overview" diagram for what Florida described as

the ''Non-US Citizens Project," which depicts an "automated match" between FVRS Registration

Records and "Driver Licensee" (DHSMV) records. Id. at slide 11. The training then provides

step-by-step instructions for the Supervisors of Elections to follow when verifying the eligibility

of voters identified as a result of the matching process described in Paragraph 16. Id. at slides

17-23. The document specifically instructs the Supervisors of Elections to "[d]etermine

eligibility of person based on jnformation you have ... [i]f ineligible, remove voter name from

rolls." Id. at slide 23.

19. Based on information and belief, the database matching processes described in

Paragraph 16 and incorporated into the procedures described in Attachment 1 and 2 rely on

outdated and inaccurate data; consequently, the resulting lists have erroneously identified

numerous registered voters in Florida who are U.s. citizens who are eligible to vote and who

potentially could be deprived of their right to vote. See, e.g., Attachment 3 (May 31, 2012 Letter

from Miami-Dade County Supervisor of Elections to Florida Department of State, at 2). The

Defendants were aware that the resulting lists included errors and incorrect information.

20. Among the eligible voters erroneously identified as non-citizens by the

Defendants are individuals who became naturalized U.S. citizens within the past several years or

who are native-born citizens, including decorated combat veterans who served in the United

States Armed Forces.

21. On May 31, 2012, the United States notified Defendant Detzner that the voter

verification process described in Paragraph 16 "appears to be a program to systemically remove
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the names of potentially ineligible voters from the official list of eligible voters within the

meaning of Section 8 of the NVRA, and does not appear to fall within any of the exCeptions

allowed within the 90 day period before a federal election." See Attachment 4 (Letter of May

3 I, 2012, from Department of Justice to Florida Secretary of State, at 2). The letter further

advises that because "Florida's primary election for federal office is August 14,2012, that 90

day period began on May 16,2012."

22. In a letter dated June 6, 2012, Defendant Detzner responded that the Defendants

intended to proceed with their voter verification process. See Attachment 5 (Letter of June 6,

2012 from Florida Secretary of State to Department of Justice).

23. On June 11,2012, the United States infonned the State that because Florida had

indicated its unwillingness to comply with the requirements of the NVRA, the Assistant Attorney

General for the Civil Rights Division had authorized an enforcement action against Florida. See

Attachment 6 (Letter of June 11 from Department of Justice to Florida Secretary of State).

24. Defendants have directed the 67 Florida County Supervisors of Elections to

proceed to implement the voter verification procedures set forth in Attachments] and 2, which

include potentially removing individuals identified on the lists resulting from the database

matching described in Paragraph 16.

25. Defendants' Yoter verification procedures, as described in paragraphs 16 to 19,

constitute a program with the purpose of systematically removing names from the official lists of

eligible voters. This program was not completed by May 16,2012, the 90th day before the next

Florida primary or general election for Federal office, and does not fall within any of the

statutory exceptions to the 90-day quiet period before that election for Federal office.

Defendants' actions therefore violate Section 8(c)(2)(A) of the NVRA.
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26. Defendants' voter verification procedures are inaccurate and unreliable, and

therefore violate Section 8(b)(I) of the NVRA, which requires that any such program be

"uniform, nondiscriminatory, and in compliance with the Voting Rights Act of 1965[.]" 42

U.S.C. § 1973gg-6(b)(1).

27. Unless and until ordered to cease doing so by this Court, Defendants will continue

to administer the above-described systematic verification of voters, with an ongoing directive to

Supervisors of Elections to systematically investigate, verify, and possibly remove eligible voters

from the voter rolls within 90 days ofFlorida's August 14,2012 primary election for Federal

office, in violation of Section 8 of the NVRA. 42 U.S.C. §§ 1973gg-6(b)(l), (c)(2)(A).

WHEREFORE, the United States requests that this Court enter an order:

1. Declaring that Defendants are not in compliance with Section 8 of the

NVRA;

2. Enjoining the Defendants, their agents, and successors in office and all

persons acting in concert with any of them from failing or refusing to

comply with the requirements of Section 8 of the NVRA;

3. Enjoining Defendants, their agents, and successors in office and all

persons acting in concert with any of them from the systematic removal of

registered voters within 90 days of all elections for Federal office pursuant

to the database matching procedures described in paragraphs 16 to 19; and

4. Ordering the Defendants, their agents and successors in office and all

persons acting in concert with any of them to take all steps necessary to

ensure that no registered voter identified as potentially ineligible based on

the database matching and voter verification procedures in paragraphs 16
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to 19 is removed from the voter rolls within 90 days of a primary or

general election for Federal office, absent application of one of the

statutory exceptions in Sections 8(a)(3)(A)-(B) and 8(a)(4)(A) of the

NVRA.

The United States further requests that this Court order such other relief as the interests of

justice may require, together with the costs and disbursement in maintaining this action.

The United States further requests that the consideration of this action be expedited given

the importance of the rights sought to be vindicated herein.
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By:

ERIC H, HOLDER, JR
Artornt:y General
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